FILED SID J. WHITE JAN 4 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Appellant,

vs.

LOUIS J. WEINSTEIN,

Respondent/Appellee.

Supreme Court Case No. 78,966

The Florida Bar File Nos. 91-50,583(17A) and 91-51,095(17A)

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

LORRAINE C. HOFFMANN #612669 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Cypress Financial Center 5900 N. Andrews Avenue, Suite 835 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309 (305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In order to ensure a clear record, the following terms of reference will be used throughout this brief: The Florida Bar, appellant herein, will be referred to as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar". Louis J. Weinstein, the appellee herein, will either be referred to by his full name, or as "Respondent" or "Weinstein".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed its Complaint and Request for Admissions on November 19, 1991. Respondent submitted an Answer and a Response to Complainant's Request for Admissions (admitting specific misconduct) on April 10, 1992. On February 18, 1992, the Honorable Paul Siegel, Circuit Court Judge in and for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Dade County, Florida, was appointed as Referee to conduct disciplinary proceedings according to the Rules of Discipline. The Bar voluntarily dismissed the charges which alleged criminal misconduct on April 21, Pursuant to timely notice, Judge Siegel conducted the Final 1992. Hearing in this cause on June 4, 1992. At the beginning of the Final Hearing, Respondent made further admissions as to the misconduct charged in the Bar's Complaint. [Final Hearing Transcript, pages 6, 186-189.] Thereafter, The Florida Bar presented the testimony of two witnesses (Paul Mortilla and Judith Overman), and entered eight (8) exhibits into evidence. Respondent presented the testimony of his wife and ex-wife, in addition to his own. Respondent also tendered seven (7) exhibits, six (6) of which were received into evidence. In addition to the foregoing, the Referee heard argument of counsel and accepted copies of case law submitted by the parties for the purpose of illuminating the issues before the Referee. A listing of this case law is contained in the Complainant's Memorandum of Law on Discipline, pages 2-3.

At the conclusion of the Final Hearing, the Referee directed the parties to conduct specific and limited research on the terms "attempt" and "solicitation" (in a non-criminal context), and to submit this research in memoranda of law [both memoranda are included in the record on appeal]. Further, because Respondent introduced documents and testimony into evidence at Final Hearing which had not been provided to the Bar in advance (and which were at variance with Respondent's prior testimony before a Grievance Committee), the Referee gave the Bar additional time in which to conduct further discovery. On the Bar's motion, a Special Setting was scheduled for September 24, 1992 in order to take additional testimony. However, hours before the scheduled hearing, Respondent agreed to enter into a Joint Stipulation (obviating the need for the hearing) wherein he essentially admitted having lied to the Referee at Final Hearing. [Final Hearing Transcript, pages 137, 139, 151; Joint Stipulation, September 24, 1992.]

On October 5, 1992, the Referee submitted his Report of Referee, finding Respondent guilty of: (1) attempting to solicit employment for pecuniary gain; (2) engaging in conduct which is unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice; (3) violating a series of Rules of Professional Conduct pertaining to targeted, direct mail solicitation letters; (4) making intentional misrepresentations of material fact; and (5) attempting to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct. The Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of ninety (90) days and that he be subject to the following additional conditions: one hundred fifty (150) hours of community service (excluding the provision of legal advice) to Hurricane Andrew

- 2 -

victims in south Dade County, Florida (during the term of his suspension), and probation (not to exceed one (1) year), to begin after the expiration of the suspension and continuing until Respondent completes ten (10) credits of continuing legal education in the field of ethics. The Referee also recommended that Respondent be taxed for all costs relating to this proceeding; at the conclusion of the Final Hearing, these costs totalled \$2,741.72. The Report of Referee, together with the record, were sent to this Court on October 5, 1992.

On October 12, 1992, Respondent sent the Court a Motion to Amend Referee's Report together with a Motion to Stay Consideration of These motions addressed the Referee's findings of Referee's Report. fact, determination of guilt, and recommendation for punishment on the narrow issue of Respondent's conduct in sending two (2) targeted, direct mail solicitation letters to motor vehicle accident victims or their survivors: one letter was mailed to the Seaman family on or about January 28, 1991 and the other was mailed to Geza Fakla on or about February 28, 1991. Both of these letters were sent after this Court's December 21, 1990 revisions to the attorney advertising rules, which were to become effective January 1, 1991. The Bar did not oppose the motion for a stay, but filed a Motion to Strike Respondent's Motion to Amend Referee's Report. The Bar also filed a Motion for Amendment of Referee's Report Based on Clerical Mistake. The Court remanded the proceeding to the Referee for consideration of the post-hearing motions. On November 20, 1992, the Referee filed an Amended Report, recommending findings of fact as to Respondent's misconduct in sending the two (2) targeted direct mail solicitation letters to motor vehicle

- 3 -

accident victims, but withdrawing his recommendation as to the finding of guilt and imposition of sanctions for these violations, based on his determination that the rules under which Respondent was charged were not implemented and strictly enforced until April 1, 1991 -- after Respondent's conduct occurred. [See Amended Report of Referee, pages 22-23.] Based on this determination, the Referee reduced Respondent's sanction by requiring fewer hours of community service: the original requirement of one hundred fifty (150) hours was decreased to one hundred (100) hours.

On November 25, 1992, Respondent filed a Petition To Waive Notice And For Reasonable Time To Close Practice, asking this Court for an Order which would allow him ninety (90) days in which to close his practice, and excuse him from the notice to clients requirements of Rule 3-5.1(h), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The Florida Bar filed a motion in opposition. The Court has elected to hold its ruling on Respondent's pending motion in abeyance until such time as the Amended Report of Referee is considered.

The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review on December 4, 1992.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Although the Referee has found that Respondent is guilty of a number of acts of misconduct (as set out in the Amended Report of Referee), The Florida Bar's focus, on appeal, is the appropriateness of the discipline recommended -- given Respondent's demonstrated pattern of blatant dishonesty and improper solicitation of potential clients. This pattern of misconduct is clearly illustrated by the five (5) separate acts of solicitation which essentially gave rise to this action. The first four (4) solicitations occurred via targeted, direct mail letters sent to motor vehicle accident victims, or their survivors. The fifth, and most disturbing act of solicitation, was accomplished in person, and had as its target a hospitalized, incapacitated and partially paralyzed head trauma patient who was just days out of a coma.

A. TARGETED DIRECT MAIL SOLICITATION LETTERS

On or about October 17, 1990, Respondent wrote and sent targeted, direct mail solicitation letters to the families of two (2) individuals who had died in an automobile accident: Thomas Dowe (Dowe) and James Fluke (Fluke). [Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request for Admissions.] Respondent had learned about this accident, and its two fatalities, through an account published in a local newspaper. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Composite Exhibit 1, Grievance Committee Transcript, page 38.] Respondent's letters were designed to persuade the Dowe and Fluke families to hire him to represent them in their

anticipated motor vehicle tort claims. [Final Hearing Transcript, pages 133, 137, 139, 146-147, 153-155.] In his zeal to solicit their business, Respondent told both the Dowe and Fluke families, in his letters to them, that he had "concluded two (2) very large cases involving catastrophic automobile accidents: one in which [his] client was killed and one in which [his] client suffered extensive brain damage." [Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request for Admissions.] In essence. Respondent intended this statement to suggest that he, and he alone, had "concluded" both of these cases. [Amended Report of Referee, The case in which Respondent asserts that his client was page 7.] killed pertains to Jean Ellis, as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Jerry Allen Ellis, deceased, to wit: Jean Ellis, individually, Janice Ellis, individually, and Blanche Ellis, individually, vs. General Asphalt Co., Inc., and Upper Keys Marine Construction Co., Inc., Case No. 85-43881 CA 20 (Ellis). The case in which Respondent asserts that his client suffered extensive brain damage pertains to Wayne Rose vs. General Asphalt Co., Inc. and Upper Keys Marine Construction Co., Inc., Case No. 86-09337 CA 27 (Rose). Both cases were filed in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. [Admitted in **Respondent's** Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response to Complainant's Request for Admissions.]

While it is true that Respondent filed both of these cases, he did not "conclude" either one of them. In seeking to persuade these two (2) families to hire him to pursue whatever legal action he would advise, Respondent lied to both of them. In fact, <u>Ellis</u> was concluded through a negotiated settlement arrived at primarily through the efforts of the law firm of Freedman and Neufeld, P.A. [Joint Stipulation, paragraph 3; The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Exhibits 9-35.] <u>Rose</u> was also settled by Freedman and Nuefeld, P.A., as Respondent had withdrawn from the case, as evidenced by the Stipulation For Withdrawal And Substitution of Counsel and Order permitting his withdrawal. [Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request for Admissions.]

Not only did Respondent lie about the actual resolutions of these two (2) cases to the Dowe and Fluke families, but he also lied to another motor vehicle accident victim (Geza Fakla), and still another motor vehicle accident victim's survivors (the Seaman family). He subsequently told these same lies, under oath, to the Grievance Committee, to Bar Counsel, and even to the Referee at Final Hearing. While his misrepresentations regarding <u>Rose</u> were (slightly) less egregious¹, Respondent carried the ruse about having "concluded" <u>Ellis</u> to Final Hearing -- and beyond. Although he had testified (under oath) before a Grievance Committee that the Ellis settlement was

¹Respondent admitted, at the Grievance Committee meeting and at Final Hearing, that his withdrawal from Rose was precipitated by a conflict of interest. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Composite Exhibit 1, Grievance Committee Transcript, 16-17; Final Hearing pages Transcript, pages 140-142.] At Final Hearing, Respondent characterized his claim to have "concluded" Rose as "very, very careless" [Final Hearing Transcript, page 133, lines 11-12], "very negligent" [Final Hearing Transcript, page 143, line 16], and "a negligent mistake" [Final Hearing Transcript, page 146, line 24]. In telling the Dowe and Fluke families that he had "concluded" Rose, Respondent was neither careless, negligent nor mistaken; he made an intentional misrepresentation designed to influence his ability to solicit these two families' claims. [Final Hearing Transcript, pages 146-147; Amended Report of Referee, page 10, paragraph 41.]

negotiated primarily by Alan S. Neufeld, Esq. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Composite Exhibit 1, Grievance Committee Hearing Transcript, page 22, lines 13-16], Respondent testified at Final Hearing (again, under oath) that he worked with Freedman and Neufeld, as co-counsel, to jointly negotiate the settlement in Ellis. [Final Hearing Transcript, He also 155.1 pages 133-139. 151-152. testified that he was instrumental in reaching settlement [Final Hearing Transcript, page 155, lines 5-6], that he was a party to several conference calls with the insurance adjuster, and that he attended a face-to-face settlement meeting as well. [Final Hearing Transcript, page 152, lines 1-8.] Respondent was so adamant about his on-going and active involvement in settling Ellis that he did not waver from his position even when asked direct questions by Bar counsel and the Referee at Final Hearing. In response to Bar counsel's question as to who did the Ellis settlement negotiations, Respondent answered that he and Mr. Freedman did. [Final Hearing Transcript, page 151, lines 16-19; Amended Report of Referee, pages 8-9, paragraph 37.] In response to the Referee's question as to who actually conducted the Ellis settlement negotiations, Respondent answered that he and Mr. Neufeld did. [Final Hearing Transcript, page 137, lines 1-15.] Indeed, not until September 24, 1992 (nearly four (4) months after the Final Hearing), after the Bar had completed its additional discovery and was ready to proceed that afternoon to Special Setting 2 to prove that Respondent lied (to the

²The Florida Bar had moved for a Special Setting in which to present additional testimony and documentary evidence of Respondent's non-participation in the settlement of the <u>Ellis</u> case. The Referee had scheduled this Special Setting for September 24, 1992 at 5:00 P.M. The Bar was prepared to present the testimony of four additional witnesses.

Dowe, Fluke, and Seaman families, as well as to Geza Fakla, Bar Counsel and the Referee) about his involvement in settling the <u>Ellis</u> case, did Respondent come forward and admit that he had, in fact, misrepresented his involvement in "concluding" the case, and that the settlement negotiations were conducted by the Law Offices of Freedman and Nuefeld, P.A. [Joint Stipulation, paragraph 3; The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Exhibits 9-35; Amended Report of Referee, page 9, paragraph 37.]

Respondent's letters to the Dowe and Fluke families presented other problems as well, under the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar: thev constituted communications likely to create an uniustified expectation about results Respondent could achieve; they failed to contain the required language about the availability of free information concerning Respondent's qualifications and experience; they were not plainly marked "advertisement" in the required places and in the required typeface; and they were not sent to staff counsel at The Florida Bar headquarters. [Amended Report of Referee, pages 10-11, paragraphs 42-46.]

In addition to his letters to the Dowe and Fluke families, Respondent authored and caused to be mailed two (2) more targeted, direct mail solicitation letters. As with the Dowe and Fluke correspondence, these letters were directed to the victims of motor vehicle accidents or their survivors, and were precipitated by reports of the accidents which Respondent found and read in a local newspaper. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Composite Exhibit 1, Grievance Committee Hearing Transcript, pages 66 and 81.] The first of these two (2) letters was dated January 28, 1991, and was directed to the

- 9 -

family of Cathy Jean Seaman (Seaman), who was killed in an automobile accident fifteen (15) days earlier, on January 13, 1991. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Exhibit 4.] The second letter was dated February 28, 1991, and was directed to Geza Fakla (Fakla) who had severed a hand, but survived an automobile accident twenty-five (25) days earlier, on February 3, 1991. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Exhibit 5.] In the Seaman letter, Respondent made claims similar to those in his Dowe and Fluke letters, again referring to Ellis and Rose. Again, these claims were intentional misrepresentations designed to influence the family's decision about whether to hire Respondent to represent [Final Hearing Transcript, pages 133, 146-147, 153-155; them. Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request For Admissions.] In the Fakla letter, Respondent claimed that he had "previously successfully handled just this type of defective products case, obtaining a multimillion dollar result." [Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request For Admissions.] \mathbf{In} composing his solicitation letters to Fakla and the Seaman family, Respondent wrote with abandon, committing a litany of other prohibited he sought to ingratiate himself with the recipients by telling acts: them that he had been "recommended to contact [them]", although no one had recommended that Respondent contact either Fakla or the Seaman family [Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request For Admissions]; he disseminated communications likely to create an unjustified expectation about results he could achieve [Amended Report of Referee, page 14, paragraph 58; page 16, paragraph 70]; he failed to make required

disclosures about attorney's fees and expenses [Final Hearing Transcript, page 6; Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request For Admissions]; he made statements which were merely self-laudatory and which described or characterized the quality of his services; he failed to mark, in red ink, the word "advertisement" on the letters and the envelopes in which they were mailed; he failed to send copies or samples of the letters and the envelopes in which they were mailed to anyone at The Florida Bar headquarters; he failed to include the required language asking the recipients to disregard the letters if they had already retained counsel; he failed to provide the recipients of his letters with a written statement of his qualifications; he failed to disclose to the recipients of his letters how he obtained the information which caused him to write to them [Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request For Admissions]; and he sent the letters themselves less than thirty (30) days after the occurrences of the automobile accidents which precipitated his letters of solicitation. [Final Hearing Transcript, page 6; Admitted in Respondent's Answer To Complaint and Respondent's Response To Complainant's Request For Admissions.]

B. IN-PERSON SOLICITATION

In late 1990, Robert Dowe (Dowe) filed a complaint with The Florida Bar, having received a targeted, direct mail solicitation letter from Louis J. Weinstein a short time after the death of his son, Thomas Dowe, in an automobile accident. In his complaint, Dowe characterized Respondent's solicitation letter as offensive, and in poor taste. Pursuant to the Bar's usual practice and procedure, Respondent was provided with a copy of Dowe's complaint, and asked to submit a written response, which he did on January 8, 1991. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Exhibit 6.] In defending his conduct, Respondent minimized its impact and harm, comparing it to the greater evil of an in-person solicitation, where "the risks of coercion, duress and overreaching" may be present. [The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Exhibit 6, page 2; Final Hearing Transcript, pages 212-218.] Respondent wrote these words, addressed to Bar Counsel, on or about January 8, 1991.

On or about January 28, 1991, Phillip Mortilla (Mortilla) was gravely injured in a motorcycle accident in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. He was thrown from his motorcycle and traveled approximately twenty-nine (29) feet through the air before he impacted the ground. This impact caused deep head trauma, at least five occurrences of cerebral bleeding, significant cerebral swelling, and coma. Mortilla was taken by ambulance to Holy Cross Hospital, where he was placed in the Intensive Care Unit, listed in serious condition, and monitored for additional swelling (which would necessitate emergency surgery). [Final Hearing Transcript, pages 50-51, 53-55.] An account of Mortilla's accident appeared in the local newspaper; the article disclosed Mortilla's name, the nature of his injuries, and the name and location of the hospital where he was admitted. [Final Hearing Transcript, pages 51-52; The Florida Bar's Final Hearing Exhibit 7.] Louis J. Weinstein read this newspaper account of Mortilla's accident, and determined to solicit his motor vehicle tort claim. [The Florida Composite Exhibit 1, Grievance Bar's Final Hearing Committee Transcript, page 164.]

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