MAR 16 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case Deputy Clerk

No. 78,966

Complainant/Appellant,

The Florida Bar File Nos. 91-50,583(17A) and

91-51,095(17A)

VS.

LOUIS J. WEINSTEIN,

Respondent/Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT LOUIS J. WEINSTEIN

LOUIS J. WEINSTEIN, Pro Se 7852 Wiles Road Coral Springs, FL 33067 (305) 341-4024



MAR 19 1993

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The singular issue in this request for review by the Florida Bar is the propriety of the discipline recommended by the Referee. It is manifest in this case that the sole function of this Honorable Court is to ascertain the appropriate discipline for Respondent, after consideration of all of the facts present herein. It is a long standing, well-settled legal proposition recently reiterated in the Florida Bar vs. Ariel Poplack, (Fla. Case No. 76,823, April 30, 1992), that a Referee's recommendation of discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. In the case sub judice the Bar engages in a litany, which borders on an absence of candor towards this forum, by its reiteration that the Referee's discipline is a suspension of 90 days. However, even this Court's cursory review of page 24 of the Amended Report of Referee, discloses blatant proof that the Referee has imposed a sufficient proper discipline, comprising suspension, probation, community service, CLE ethics credits and costs.

The sanctions of the Referee are supported by the relevant Florida case law and the factual circumstances as evidenced in the record, including a myriad of mitigating factors, which <u>must</u> be considered in fashioning an appropriate discipline, under the controlling Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The decisional law advanced in support of the Bar's request for disbarment

evinces a misguided reliance upon existing case law, because these decisions undermine the Bar's premise and clearly establish that disbarment is an inappropriate punishment.

In formulating a proper discipline, the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions posits a trio of purposes to be promoted by the application of the standards:

- consideration of all factors relevant to imposing the appropriate level of sanctions in an individual case;
- (2) consideration of the appropriate weight of such factors in light of the stated goals of lawyer discipline;
- (3) consistency in the imposition of disciplinary sanctions for the same or similar offenses within and among jurisdictions.

Vengeance or retribution is inimical to these stated purposes.

ARGUMENTS

I. Both applicable Florida case law, comprising cases relied on by the Bar, and the mandatory Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions dictate that disbarment is an excessive, inappropriate discipline.

Respondent received from the Referee the following sanctions for his conduct:

1) 90 days suspension; 2) 100 hours of community service (excluding provision of legal advice) for the victims of Hurricane Andrew in the southern part of Dade County; 3) probation up to 1 year (with the period of probation to end upon completion of 10 CLE ethics credits); 4) attainment of 10 CLE credits in ethics; 5) costs. [Amended Report of Referee, page 24.] These numerous penalties are sufficient to protect the public and the administration of justice. ²Disbarment would be an excessively harsh penalty in light of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and Florida case law.

Standard 3.0 provides that a court <u>should</u> consider the following factors in imposing sanctions:

- 1. the duty violated;
- 2. the lawyer's mental state:

²See standard 1.1

- 3. the potential or actual injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct; and
- 4. the existence of aggravating or mitigating factors.3

The Referee noted the following: "All of the Respondent's conduct was of a nature to bring the entire profession into disrepute, rather than of a type to cause actual harm to the recipients of the Respondent's attempted or actual solicitation." [Amended Report of the Referee page 25.] As the referee found, Louis Weinstein did violate his professional duty, but the effect of the misconduct does not warrant disbarment. Respondent was never employed as a result of his efforts, nor did pecuniary gain accrue. Further, poor health and the sporadic practice of the law produced overwhelming, simultaneous financial difficulties, engendering extreme mental turmoil. This impaired mental state precluded proper judgment and clear thinking, precipitating Respondent's act of desperation in attempting to solicit a person in a hospital. While not condoning this behavior, the underlying circumstances are mitigating factors requiring consideration in the determination of proper punishment, in accordance with Florida Standard 9.32(c) and (h).

"Respondent has had a continuing history of kidney disease. He underwent surgery in January of 1990. His physical problems evidently affected his earning capacity and impelled him to violate the Rules of Discipline in an effort to rejuvenate a lagging practice and income." (Amended Report of Referee, at page 26).

³Mitigating factors discussed infra

An analysis of the leading Florida case law illustrates that disbarment is overly draconian and is not warranted under the facts of this case. The case law covers a broad gamut of unethical activities. It is clear that Respondent's behavior is not in line with misconduct that has warranted disbarment. In The Florida Bar v. Rendina, 583 So.2d 314 (Fla. 1991), an attorney was disbarred for a criminal act, attempting to bribe an assistant state attorney. The subject action does not approach criminal activity.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983) an attorney failed to file income tax returns <u>for 22 years</u>. This Court ascertained that a 6 month suspension was sufficient discipline for this prolonged misconduct. Factually, this attorney's actions were much more egregious and outrageous than Respondent's, which were committed in an isolated period of 5 months during a legal career spanning 15 years. The Attorney Lord purloined money from the federal government and violated federal laws, a crime. This Court found:

While personal difficulties should not be relied upon to excuse Lord's misconduct, the Referee should not be restrained from considering hardships in recommending a discipline which would be fair to society and to Respondent in addition to being an effective deterrent to others. Id. at 986.

The Court also noted that a court's judgment "must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty." <u>Id.</u>

In The Florida Bar v. Stillman, 401 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1981), an attorney

appropriated his client's money and was disbarred. This case exemplifies the type of situation where disbarment is warranted, Respondent caused no actual harm aside from bothering the recipients of his advances. He was not hired as a result of his actions nor did he receive any monetary benefit.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Schulman</u>, 484 So.2d 1247 (Fla. 1986), <u>an attorney received a public reprimand from this Court</u>, for purchasing a hospital report for use as a source of potential clients. The attorney had an investigator who would solicit business for him. The attorney represented these clients and ergo, his solicitations caused actual harm in distinction to Respondent. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Dodd</u>, 195 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1967), an attorney was disbarred for representing both the husband and wife in their divorce. This is the type of situation where disbarment is warranted. Respondent's acts are far removed from the seriousness of Dodd's actions.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Gaer</u>, 380 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1980), an attorney received a public reprimand for sharing attorney's fees with a bondsman who solicited business for him. The bail bondsman referred 3 clients to the defendant. The defendant represented the 3 clients and shared part of his fees with the bail bondsman. This case further illustrates that disbarment is too harsh considering the facts of this case, in which Respondent received no aggrandizement nor employment from his mere attempted solicitation.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Abrams</u>, 402 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1981), an attorney was suspended for one year for the following actions:

1. solicitation; 2. attempt to

withdraw from the case without good cause; 3. conflict of interest; 4. misrepresentation to the court. The actions of this attorney are far worse on the ethical scale than Respondent's, and he was not disbarred.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Budish</u>, 421 So.2d. 501 (Fla. 1982), this court imposed a public reprimand for the attorney's false and misleading advertisements. The actions of this attorney caused actual harm to the people who were misled by his ads.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Bowles</u>, 460 So.2d 367 (Fla. 1984), an attorney received an eight month suspension for doing the following: 1. mishandling a bankruptcy proceeding, dissolution action, and a real estate matter; 2. Improper advertising. Clearly, Respondent's acts cause much less tangible real harm.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Dawson</u>, 111 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1959), an attorney bought clients' business by agreeing in advance to pay some of their bills. This attorney was not disbarred by this Court. This Court stated:

Definitive disbarment is an extreme measure which should be saved for the most serious breaches of discipline. As a matter of act, in many states complete disbarment is employed only in those cases which suggest that the offending lawyer is beyond rehabilitation or that his conduct has been so reprehensible that he should be permanently separated from the profession. <u>Id.</u> at 431.

In <u>State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Murrell</u>, 74 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1954), the court stated:

... Disbarment is the extreme measure of discipline and should be resorted to only in cases where the lawyer demonstrates an attitude of course of conduct wholly inconsistent with approved professional standards. It must be clear that he is one who should never be at the bar, otherwise suspension is preferable.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Scott</u>, 197 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1967), an attorney received a 6 month suspension for actually soliciting employment from several people. The Court noted: "over the years this Court has not found any areas of black and white as to the degree of punishment to be imposed in all cases <u>Rehabilitation</u> as well as punishments involved in every case." <u>Id.</u> at 520. This passage illustrates that Mr. Weinstein should not be made into some type of benchmark as the Bar would like. [Initial Brief, page 18] The Court must consider rehabilitation in its decision and not just punishment. ".. the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation." <u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130, 132 (1970).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Stafford</u>, 543 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 1989), an attorney received a 6 month suspension for the following acts: 1. engaging in conduct contrary to honesty; 2. asking persons to recommend employment; 3. dividing legal fees with nonlawyers; 3. violating disciplinary rule; 4. engaging in conduct that adversely reflects fitness. The Court found Stafford's action to be serious and suspended him for 6 months. Stafford paid the aggregate sum of \$10,000.00-\$11,000.00 for the cases that were in fact referred to him. Stafford secured ten or eleven cases as a result of his accomplished solicitation scheme. The actions of Stafford were substantially more flagrant than Weinstein's, who secured no cases as a result of his <u>attempted</u> rather than actual solicitation. This Court levied a suspension, a sufficient, appropriate discipline rather than the extreme measure

of disbarment.

The previous analysis of the leading, controlling Florida case law engenders a single, inescapable conclusion. The numerous diverse sanctions imposed by Referee Siegel are both sufficient and appropriate to punish Louis Weinstein, protect the public and promote the goals and purposes of discipline. Indeed, the Referee's recommendations of the requirements of community service and 10 hours of CLE ethics credits are designed to encourage reformation and rehabilitation, the second linchpin of the 3 pillars supporting Bar disciplinary proceedings, enunciated in the recent case of The Florida Bar v. Ariel Poplack, (Fla., April 30, 1992, Case No. 76,823):

We have held that Bar disciplinary proceedings must serve 3 purposes: first, the judgement must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer; second, the judgment must be fair to the Respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation; and third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved with like violations. Id. ap 566.

Respondent's actions, while clearly improper, do not even approach those rare cases in which disbarment was ascertained to be an appropriate measure. Although zealous enforcement of ethical practices is significant and valuable, overzealous, fanatical retribution confers no benefit to society nor the legal profession. This Court's approbation of the Bar's position that disbarment of Respondent is appropriate, would not serve the stated goals of discipline but rather would subvert its purposes and legitimize overkill and vengeance in

punishment.

The Bar's appellate counsel exhibits unbridled literary license in her representations to this Honorable Court of the facts of record in this case. A graphic illustration of this detrimental practice is counsel's statement at the bottom of page 19 of its initial brief, subsumed under its first argument that Weinstein:

remained in the hospital room with him for 20 to 30 minutes.

However, the only testimony that speaks to this issue is that of Respondent and head nurse, Judith Overman. Respondent's testimony is unqualifiedly that he stayed in the room with Mortilla for about 8 to 10 minutes (Transcript of Grievance Committee on July 30, 1991, at page 186, lines 7 through 10). Even nurse Overman has conceded on cross-examination at the final hearing that Respondent could have been with the patient for as little as 10 minutes (Transcript of final hearing on June 4, 1992 at page 45, lines 18 through 20). To state as a fact that Respondent remained with Mortilla for 20 to 30 minutes is a single instance in a series of gross distortions of the facts in evidence in the record, by the Florida Bar.

The Florida Bar engages in yet another egregious factual misrepresentation in its assertion on page 20 of its Initial Brief, that Respondent's continued presence in Mortilla's hospital room could be for no other purpose but to patiently await an opportunity to obtain Mortilla's signature on his at the ready documents regardless of his condition. This is rank speculation and the only evidence of record completely negates this assertion. Nurse Overman's testimony directly addresses

this point. If Respondent wanted to obtain the execution of his documents, there was ample opportunity to secure such; however, Nurse Overman's testimony is directly on this issue:

- "Q. Nor did you, to your knowledge, see Mr. Weinstein present any kind of written forms, agreements or releases to this man?
- A. No, sir. (transcript of final hearing on June 4, 1992 at pages 46 through 47, lines 25 through 3.)"
- Q. Did you see any types of papers or anything like that that he was attempting to have the patient sign?
- A. No. (sworn statement of Judith Overman, taken on June 4, 1991 by Johh D. Vogt, Esquire, counsel for the Florida Bar, at page 11, lines 18 through 21).

Even in response to Bar counsel Richard Liss' queries, Overman stated:

- Q. Did you see whether or not Mr. Weinstein had any papers with him?
- A. The manila folder was there but I didn't see any papers out. (Transcript of final hearing held on June 4, 1992, page 27, line 11 through 14).
- Q. You didn't hear Mr. Weinstein asking this man to let Mr. Weinstein be his lawyer, did you?

Did you hear any questions like that?

- A. No, I didn't.
- Q. You heard no such converstion going toward Mr. Weinstein's possible employment, did you?
- A. No, I didn't.
- Q. Nor did you, to your knowledge, see Mr. Weinstein present any kind of written forms, agreements or releases to this man?
- A. No, sir.

(Transcript of final hearing on June 4, 1992, at pages 46-47, lines 16 through 3).

The cases specifically relied on by the Appellant Florida Bar to purportedly substantiate its position that disbarment is an appropriate discipline, undermine this contention, and if fact demonstrate, that suspension in fact, the proper measure of punishment in this case.

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